FILED

Mar 07, 2016 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

Supreme Court (Court of Appeals No. 30845-6-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT THE STATE OF WASHINGTON					
IN RE: DETENTION OF:					
STEVEN RITTER,					
Petitioner.					
PETITION FOR REVIEW					

Mick Woynarowski Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND OPINION BELOW

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (3) Steven Ritter asks this Court to accept review of the February 4, 2016 opinion of the Court of Appeals in *In re det. of Ritter*, --- P.3d ----, 30845-6-III decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition. (Appendix A.)

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Research has shown that fundamental neurological differences between adolescent and mature adult brains in the areas of risk and consequence assessment, impulse control, tendency toward antisocial behaviors, and susceptibility to peer pressure, all take away from juveniles' ability to control their behavior. Over the last decade, the United States Supreme Court, and most recently this Court, have confirmed that juveniles are therefore less culpable than neurologically mature adults. *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 692-93, 358 P.3d 359 (2015) (internal citations omitted).

In the civil commitment arena, principles of substantive due process require that no individual be indefinitely committed absent a showing of lack of volitional control. Should this Court grant review and reverse on due process grounds because Mr. Ritter's indefinite civil commitment under RCW 71.09 was premised on conduct that occurred when his volitional functioning was still neurologically undeveloped?

2. Frye excludes scientific evidence not shown to be capable of producing reliable results and not generally accepted within the scientific community. The SRA-FV is an invented psychometric measure – a mathematical scheme for adding together subjectively-scored "dynamic risk factors" – in order to come up with a quantitative assessment of risk posed by an individual allegedly different from what is already considered by an established actuarial like the Static-99R.

Psychometric measures are judged on their (1) construct validity, (2) inter-rater reliability, and (3) cross-validation. On remand for a *Frye* evidentiary hearing, the State expert conceded the SRA-FV fails each of these essential checks. A renowned statistician described the tool as an unusable "first draft" and a published forensic psychologist called it "an unconfirmed discovery." ¹

Did the trial court and the Court of Appeals err in ruling these red flags are a matter to be resolved by the finder of fact, rather than an outright bar to admissibility? Should this Court inform the lower courts that respondents in RCW 71.09 proceedings cannot be involuntarily committed on social science experiments that may, or may not, pan out?

¹ Dr. Dale Glaser 12/10/14 RP 56; Dr. Brian Abbott, 12/11/14 RP 10.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Childhood trauma and State's reliance on ensuing juvenile offense history to justify commitment.</u>

Mr. Ritter's biological mother physically and sexually victimized him at a young age. CP 22, 25; RP 1053.² Mr. Ritter was next abused by women from two different foster families. CP 25. What he endured led to a "long history of anger and contempt for females." CP 25; accord 1RP 77-78. Life in his adoptive family provided no solace. CP 22; RP 1054.

His adopted parents did not let Mr. Ritter be himself, isolated him, and made clear he would go to hell if he was a homosexual. CP 952-53.

Mr. Ritter acted out and was classified as behaviorally disturbed. CP 953, CP 23. He suffered from "profoundly unreconciled attachment issues, trust issues with people." RP 1055. As a damaged child, "his whole life has been turmoil." RP 1056.

Mr. Ritter spent time in juvenile detention for sexually assaulting his 46-year-old aunt. RP 732. Later, he was incarcerated at 19 years old following an incident where he fondled a nine-year-old at a library. RP 627-38, 733. He responded reasonably well to treatment. RP 664-65, 668,

² The designation "CP" is used to refer to the Clerk's Papers. Consecutively paginated volumes 1 and 2 of the verbatim reports of proceedings are referred to as 1RP and 2RP, respectively. Consecutively paginated volumes I through X are referred to simply as "RP"; and the transcript of the September 18, 2009 hearing is referred to as "9/18/09RP."

679. But, at the conclusion of his sentence, the State filed a petition for indefinite civil commitment. At the commitment trial, the State also produced evidence of uncharged crimes allegedly occurring when Mr. Ritter was just 14 or 15 years of age. RP 641-45, 647, 731-32.

The State's expert, Dr. Dale Arnold, diagnosed Mr. Ritter with pedophilia and antisocial personality disorder (ASPD). RP 723-38, 751-54; CP 965. Dr. Arnold diagnosed Mr. Ritter with pedophilia even though his sexual history shows attraction to adults and individuals close to his age. RP 739-40. Dr. Arnold claimed pedophilia does not require "strong preference" for prepubescent children and he described Mr. Ritter's alleged attraction to prepubescent children as "non-exclusive." RP 739-40.

In diagnosing Mr. Ritter with ASPD, Dr. Arnold relied heavily on Mr. Ritter's conduct as an adolescent and younger. RP 751-58.

Defense expert Dr. Robert Halon disagreed the evidence amounted to a diagnosis of pedophilia because of insufficient evidence of pedophilic fantasies and urges. RP 1068, 1077. Dr. Halon also disagreed with Dr. Arnold's personality disorder diagnosis: "[W]hat looks like antisocial personality in Mr. Ritter is really his way of handling his misery, his stress that he's been in probably his whole life long." RP 1047; 1066.

Psychometric testing showed Mr. Ritter as below the cutoff for a diagnosis of ASPD. RP 1043-47. Personality testing indicated that Mr. Ritter has

normal self-control. RP 1051; accord RP 1061-62. This confirmed for Dr. Halon that Mr. Ritter's impulsivity was a result of distress, not of a volitional impairment. RP 1051, 1062, 1066, 1088-89.

Despite Dr. Halon's testimony, the jury found Mr. Ritter to be a sexually violent predator and committed him indefinitely. CP 999-1000.

2. The SRA-FV instrument and remand for Frye hearing.

Relying on statistical theories and actuarial tests, Dr. Arnold reported Mr. Ritter would "more likely than not" engage in predatory acts if not confined. CP 966-68; RP 763-64. Dr. Arnold testified about how Mr. Ritter scored on actuarial risk assessment instruments like the Static-99R. Dr. Arnold used a novel tool called the Structured Risk Assessment – Forensic Version (SRA-FV) to gauge whether Mr. Ritter presented with dynamic – changeable – risk factors and to pick a Static-99R "reference group" to compare him against. *In re det. of Ritter*, 177 Wn.App. 519, 521, 312 P.3d 723 (2013) (attached as Appendix B); RP 781-83, 809-22. Mr. Ritter objected under *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C.Cir.1923).

The Court of Appeals remanded for an evidentiary hearing: "The bottom line is Dr. Arnold partly derived his prediction of Mr. Ritter's future dangerousness from a novel dynamic risk assessment instrument." *Ritter* at 525. On remand, the trial court concluded that all of the SRA-

FV's shortcomings go to weight, not admissibility. In the February 4, 2016 Opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed. (Appendix A.)

At the *Frye* hearing, Mr. Ritter presented expert testimony that: 1) the SRA-FV *lacks construct validity*, meaning, that it is unclear that the instrument actually measures what it purports to measure, 2) that there is *insufficient inter-rater reliability*, meaning that scoring the instrument is so subjective that different raters cannot agree on how to grade the same subjects, and 3) that there has been *no cross-validation*, meaning, that because the instrument has never been tested on a population other than the aged group of outliers it was formed on, it is unknown whether the findings generalize to a modern-day population.

Petitioner's supplemental briefing, filed with the Court of Appeals on May 13, 2015, details how the SRA-FV instrument works and the objections lodged by Mr. Ritter below. Because the testimony at the *Frye* hearing was highly technical and voluminous, Mr. Ritter respectfully asks this Court, to carefully review the supplemental briefing filed by both parties following the *Frye* remand.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. This Court should grant review because Mr. Ritter's involuntary commitment – premised on conduct occurring before he developed mature volitional control – violates due process.

Substantive due process principles require that indefinite civil commitment be premised upon a showing of actual impairment of volitional control. As the United States Supreme Court has recognized, science now explicitly shows that a juvenile's mind does not fully develop until his or her late teens or early twenties. One of the last stages of development is volitional control. Throughout adolescence and into the age of majority, humans generally lack the ability to effectively control their behaviors to the degree of fully-developed adults.

This Court, which has already given credence to these principles in *State v. O'Dell*, should grant review on this important constitutional issue and hold that indefinite commitment violates due process if it is premised upon conduct that occurred when the respondent was in a state of continuing development. For Mr. Ritter, any past volitional control difficulties likely resulted from the passing state of juvenile immaturity, not the type of permanent impairment that could justify civil commitment.

A person's right to be free from physical restraint "has always been at the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause from arbitrary government action." *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 80. 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. The indefinite commitment of sexually violent predators is a restriction on the fundamental right of liberty. *Id.* at 77; *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 731-32, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). Principles of substantive due process therefore prohibit indefinite civil commitment except in the narrowest of circumstances. *See Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 356-57, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997).

Critically, mere dangerousness is insufficient to justify indefinite, involuntary civil commitment. *Id.*. at 358; *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 412, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002). There has to be proof of volitional impairment, meaning, serious difficulty in controlling behavior. *Hendricks*, 521 U.S. at 358; *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 412; *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 731-32, 735-36. The serious difficulty controlling behavior must derive from a mental illness that distinguishes the respondent from the "typical recidivist in an ordinary criminal case." *Crane*, 543 U.S. at 413. Due process requires volitional impairment to be proved before an individual can be indefinitely confined. *Id.* Here, Mr. Ritter argues that if juvenile brain immaturity is typical, then civil commitment based on juvenile brain immaturity is unconstitutional.

Indeed, science demonstrates that young adults <u>as a class</u> temporarily lack volitional control while their brain continues to develop. There are "fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds" in "parts of the brain involved in behavior control." *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 2026, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010). "Adolescents are overrepresented statistically in virtually every category of reckless behavior." *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 569, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005). Immature brain development is by definition of undeveloped volitional control.

Juveniles have a "lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility," leading to recklessness, impulsivity, and heedless risk-taking. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 569 (quoting *Johnson v. Texas*, 509 U.S. 350, 367, 113 S. Ct. 2658, 125 L. Ed. 2d 290 (1993)). They are more susceptible to outside pressures, negative influences, and psychological damage. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 569; *Eddings v. Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104, 115, 102 S. Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982). Their character is not as "well formed" as that of an adult. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 570.

"Deciding that a 'juvenile offender forever will be a danger to society' would require 'mak[ing] a judgment that [he] is incorrigible'—but 'incorrigibility is inconsistent with youth.'" *Miller v. Alabama*, ____ U.S. ___, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2465, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012) (quoting

Graham, 130 S. Ct. at 2029 (internal quotation omitted)). "It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption." *Graham*, 130 S. Ct. at 2026 (citing *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 573).

The Supreme Court has accordingly held it unconstitutional to sentence a juvenile offender to death. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 578. Mandatory life-without-parole sentences are unconstitutional when imposed on juveniles. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2465. And the constitution outright "prohibits the imposition of a life without parole sentence on a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide." *Graham*, 130 S. Ct. at 2034; accord State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 693.

Indefinite confinement must be premised upon a finding of serious difficulty controlling behavior which must derive from a mental illness that distinguishes the respondent from the "typical recidivist in an ordinary criminal case." *Crane*, 543 U.S. at 413. But such a finding cannot be scientifically proven based upon conduct prior to mature brain development. Just as youth matters in sentencing, this State should refrain from indefinitely confining individuals whose predicate conduct derives from the period of time when their volitional capacity was immature or continuing to develop.

Here, Mr. Ritter was confined by age 19 on the predicate offense, which was committed when he was 18 years old. Exhibit 1.9 (judgment and sentence). To prove Mr. Ritter was a pedophile with antisocial personality disorder and volitional impairment, the State relied nearly exclusively on conduct from before the age of 18. As discussed above, during this time, Mr. Ritter's brain was continuing to develop and he was undergoing hormonal changes that rendered him temporarily unable to control his behaviors as society and science expects of a 30 or 40 year old.

Under the State's view, Mr. Ritter could be indefinitely committed based on actions taken while his volitional capacity remained developmentally infirm as well as psychological risk factors that exhibited only during adolescence, the height of his behavioral development, i.e. change. In fact, the State's expert counted Mr. Ritter's youth as a strike against him. For example, Dr. Arnold testified that Mr. Ritter's incident with his 46-year-old aunt showed a lack of volitional control. RP 857, 916-17, 921; *see also* RP 873-73. On the other hand, there is limited information about Mr. Ritter as an adult to support the commitment.

The fact that Mr. Ritter was 18 when he committed the offense against Ms. Barnes is of no consequence to the constitutional due process question. "[P]arts of the brain involved in behavior control continue to develop well into a person's 20s." *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 691-92

(internal quotations omitted); "[t]he qualities that distinguish juveniles from adults do not disappear when an individual turns 18." *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 574.

2. This Court should likewise grant review because the Court of Appeals has sanctioned the use of a novel and untested scientific instrument - the SRA-FV - as means of justifying RCW 71.09 commitment, even though the scientific community would reject the use of such an unreliable tool.

In determining the reliability and admissibility of scientific evidence, Washington courts apply the *Frye* standard. *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 597, 600-01, 260 P.3d 857 (2011); *State v. Greene*, 139 Wn.2d 64, 70, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999); *see Frye*, 293 F. at 1014. Under *Frye*, evidence based on a scientific theory or principle must have "achieved general acceptance in the relevant scientific community" before it is admissible at trial. *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 585, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995). "[T]he core concern... is only whether the evidence being offered is based on established scientific methodology." *State v. Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d 879, 889, 846 P.2d 502 (1993). General acceptability is not satisfied if there is a significant dispute between qualified experts as to the validity of scientific evidence. *Id.* at 887.

In addition, ERs 702 and 703 limit the introduction of expert testimony. Under rule 702, expert evidence may be admitted only if "helpful to the jury in understanding matters outside the competence of ordinary lay persons." *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 600. Rule 703 requires that the facts or data relied on by an expert must be admissible into evidence unless they are "of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject."

Admissibility of evidence under *Frye* is a mixed question of law and fact subject to de novo review. *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 600 (citing *State v. Copeland*, 130 Wn.2d 244, 255-56, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996)).

The SRA-FV is an untested invention which creates a false illusion of numerical certainty regarding the significance of subjectively assessed psychological constructs. While the initial Court of Appeals' order remanding for a *Frye* hearing was appropriate, the ultimate analysis of the question was woefully inadequate. The Opinion omits critical evidence that showed that the SRA-FV is nothing more than conjecture. And, the Court of Appeals ignored evidence that the broader scientific community would reject the use of a novel psychometric tool like the SRA-FV until it has been truly cross-validated and shown to be reliable. *E.g.* 12/10/14 RP 153-59 (Dr. Abbott testifying about American Psychological Association Code of Ethics and his opinion that the SRA-FV lacks general

acceptance); 12/10/14 RP 50 (statistician Dr. Glaser testifying that construct validity is a paramount requirement of psychometric testing).

Actuarial risk assessment tools – that assess historical and unchangeable data – are the best standard measure for estimating future re-offense risk. 12/9/14 RP 34-35. The Static-99R is the gold standard because of how often it has been cross-validated, meaning, because of how often the hypothesis of the instrument's authors – that the list of historical factors they identified as having a direct correlation, in equal terms, to future risk – has been tested and retested. 12/9/14 RP 36; 79.

The SRA-FV is a psychometric measure, not an actuarial risk assessment instrument, and it does not give a risk estimate. 12/9/14 RP 159-60. Its authors' hope is that the SRA-FV will improve upon how the Static-99R assesses risk.

But, the risk of reoffense associated with the "dynamic risk factors" considered by the SRA-FV may already be accounted for in the Static-99R. 12/10/14 RP 143-44 (Dr. Abbott testifying "it's likely that the incremental validity result could be a spurious result.") In other words, the single study – done by the SRA-FV author only – may simply be noise. No one can tell until there is a real cross-validation done on a population

(sample) other than the one from which the SRA-FV was developed. E.g. 12/11/14 RP 32.³

Even the State's expert Dr. Phenix knows that the strength of the actuarial risk assessment instruments built upon static risk factors is based on their multiple cross-validations. 12/9/14 RP 34, 36, 79. Research into dynamic risk factors, on the other hand, remains ongoing. 12/9/14 RP 41. She conceded that cross-validation is important, but lacking. 12/9/14 RP 88, 108, 111, 124-126. She conceded that the developmental sample has been criticized as an outlier and is not generalizable unless replication occurs. 12/9/14 RP 86.

Moreover, the record shows that the SRA-FV authors themselves admit a lack of construct validity. 12/10/14 RP 125. They admit poor inter-rater reliability of their instrument. 12/11/14 RP 20. They admit there is a problem with the applicability of the results from the SRA-FV to contemporary groups of sex offenders. 12/10/14 RP 135. They admit that replication is essential. 12/11/14 RP 11. And, they admit that ultimately,

³ Given the page restrictions of RAP 13.4(f), petitioner respectfully asks that the Court consider the Supplemental Brief filed on May 13, 2015 in Division III to review all of the shortcomings of the SRA-FV that the record of the *Frye* hearing revealed.

the validity of their findings will depend on new studies carried out with other samples. 12/9/14 RP 107-09.

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