### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Apr 27, 2016, 12:20 pm

#### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 92927-1

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Steven Ritter:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN RITTER,

Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Brooke Burbank Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 26680 800 Fifth Ave, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389 3017 OID No. 91094

###

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Acceptance of review of a Court of Appeals decision is governed by RAP 13.4(b). Although Ritter cites RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3) as the bases for review (PFR at 1), he does not put forward any argument as to why any of

these criteria have been met. He does not cite any case from this Court or the Court of Appeals that conflicts with the decision below. There are no such cases; Ritter's commitment is consistent with well-settled law from this Court and the Court of Appeals. Because the issues presented in his petition do not meet any of the specified criteria for review, this Court should deny review.

## A. Civil Commitment of an Adult Who Committed Sexual Offenses Both as a Juvenile and as an Adult Does Not Violate Due Process.

Ritter argues that his civil commitment as an SVP violates due process because it is based on conduct that occurred when he may have been "in a state of continuing development." PFR at 7. He argues that the State should not have been permitted to rely on evidence of his conduct until his brain was fully mature, despite not knowing exactly when that would be. Although Ritter's commitment was based on behavior that included sexual offending committed when he was an adult, he urges this Court to ignore that fact and find "it is of no consequence" because it is possible his brain wasn't capable of volitional control until he was "well into his 20s." PFR at 11. Although he argues that "a juvenile's mind does

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The cases he cites do not support his argument. For example, he relies on State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015), for the principle that juveniles are less culpable than neurologically mature adults. That was not the Court's holding. The Court did not conclude that juveniles necessarily are less culpable than adults, that all juveniles lack volitional control, or that a trial court must somehow assume that a particular juvenile lacks volitional control or culpability. It held that because the Legislature did not necessarily consider youth when it established the standard range sentences applicable under the Sentencing Reform Act, a trial court is not barred in an appropriate case from considering the defendant's youth when sentencing. Id. at 690-96.

not fully develop until his or her *late teens or early twenties*" (PFR at 7), Ritter also argues evidence of *his* conduct in his late teens and early twenties should not be considered. This logic would essentially prevent the State from acting to protect the public and incapacitate and treat dangerous sex offenders until some unknown date and time in which the brain's full maturation could be proven. Due process does not require this.

Moreover, Ritter was not a juvenile at the time of his commitment, nor was he a juvenile at the time of his most recent crime. He was 18 when he attacked nine-year-old T.B, he was 19 when convicted, and he was 30 when committed as an SVP. Second, there was overwhelming evidence that Ritter was both mentally ill and dangerous at the time of his commitment, and as such due process was satisfied. Third, Ritter will have a review to determine his mental status and suitability for continued commitment each year until he is determined not to meet criteria. See RCW 71.09.070. Due process requires nothing more.

#### 1. The statute satisfies due process.

The core concern of substantive due process is the protection from restraint from arbitrary government action. *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 80, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2nd 437 (1992). Substantive due process requires that those civilly committed under the sexually violent predator law be demonstrated to be both mentally ill and dangerous.

Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 358, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997). Therefore, a sexually violent predator can be involuntarily committed only if the State proves: (1) the person has a mental illness coupled with and linked to serious difficulty controlling behavior; and (2) together, these features both pose a danger to the public and sufficiently distinguish the person from a dangerous but typical criminal recidivist, In re Detention of Ritter, No. 30845-6-III, 2016 WL 503128, at \*5 (Wash. Ct. App. April 12, 2016) (citing Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407, 413, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002); Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 357-60; Thorell, 149 Wn.2d at 736, 742). The constitutionality of Washington's statute has been repeatedly upheld against various due process challenges. In re Detention of Young, Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993); Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724; In re Detention of McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d 369, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). Ritter does not address this body of case law.

## 2. Prohibitions against cruel and unusual punishment do not apply in civil cases because they are not punitive.

Ritter relies on three cases from the United State Supreme Court and argues that, because juvenile *criminal* offenders cannot be sentenced to death (*Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005)), given mandatory life-without-parole sentences

(*Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012)), or receive a life-without-parole sentence where the juvenile offender did not commit homicide (*Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010)), the State "should refrain from indefinitely committing individuals whose predicate conduct derives from the period of time when their volitional capacity was immature or continuing to develop." PFR at 10. His argument is entirely unsupported by law.

As this Court recently reaffirmed, Washington appellate courts have held consistently and repeatedly that the constitutional rights expressly conferred upon criminal defendants do not apply in SVP cases, which are "resolutely civil in nature." Washington law is clear that although SVP detainees are undisputedly entitled to due process of law, the constitutional trial rights expressly conferred upon criminal defendants do not apply in SVP cases, which are civil in nature.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In re Detention of Reyes, 184 Wn.2d 340, 346-48, 358 P.3d 394 (2015) (declining to apply structural error to SVP cases). See also Young, 122 Wn.2d at 18-25 (5<sup>th</sup> Amendment double jeopardy and prohibition against ex post facto do not apply in SVP cases); In re Detention of Stout, 159 Wn.2d 357, 370-71, 150 P.3d 86 (2007) (6<sup>th</sup> Amendment right to confrontation does not apply); In re Detention of Law, 146 Wn. App. 28, 42-48, 204 P.3d 230 (2008) (right against self-incrimination and the presumption of innocence does not apply), review denied, 165 Wn.2d 1028 (2009); In re Detention of Coe, 175 Wn.2d 482, 509-10, 286 P.3d 29 (2012) (no right to confront declarants of hearsay statements relied upon by experts); In re Detention of Morgan, 180 Wn.2d 312, 320-22, 330 P.3d 774 (2014) (SVP detainees need not be competent to stand trial); In re Detention of Leck, 180 Wn. App. 492, 503-08, 334 P.3d 1109 (prohibition against submitting uncharged alternative means to the jury does not apply to SVP proceedings), review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1008 (2014).

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Ritter's argument, because the cases Ritter relies on were "concerned with questions presented under the Eighth Amendment . . . when harsh punishment of crimes committed by juveniles is prescribed or imposed without taking into consideration their relative lack of volitional control." *Ritter*, 2016 WL 503128, at \*6.

The court correctly reasoned that unlike the criminal cases Ritter cites, a "civil commitment proceeding does not raise an issue of cruel and unusual punishment forbidden by the Eighth Amendment." *Id.* Elaborating on the difference, the court noted that criminal cases "mete[] out an appropriate punishment" while civil commitment proceedings only "look[] back at a respondent's past as a source of relevant evidence, either to demonstrate that a 'mental abnormality' exists or to support a finding of future dangerousness." *Id.* (citing *Hendricks*, 521 U.S. at 362). The Court of Appeals determined that Ritter had not demonstrated that "evidence of sexual misconduct as a juvenile has no probative value in deciding whether a respondent presents a risk of reoffending if not confined in a secure facility." *Id.* That finding is a correct application of this Court's definitive rulings on the constitutionality of RCW 71.09. The Court should deny review.

### B. The SRA-FV Satisfies the *Frye* Standard and Was Properly Admitted.

Ritter has also failed to satisfy the RAP 13.4(b) requirements regarding the SRA-FV. He has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court conflicts with any decision from this Court. Indeed, he cannot because this Court has held that neither clinical judgment nor actuarial assessment in SVP proceedings is subject to *Frye*. *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 754. He also cannot show that there are conflicting Court of Appeals decisions. Division II also affirmed the admissibility of the SRA-FV. *In re Detention of Pettis*, 188 Wn. App. 198, 352 P.3d 841, *review denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1025 (2015).<sup>5</sup>

After conducting the evidentiary hearing, the trial court entered detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law, and found that the SRA-FV satisfied the requirements of *Frye* as well as the evidentiary requirements of ER 702 and ER 703. CP 1726-30. The trial court found that a structured analysis of dynamic risk factors is supported by a scientific theory generally accepted in the scientific community. *Id.* The court specifically determined that the SRA-FV is capable of producing reliable results, and that any limitations or potential errors are matters for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At least four other courts have held *Frye* hearings due to the *Ritter* ruling. All four courts ruled that the SRA-FV meets the *Frye* standard. See CP 1710-13, *In re Detention of Aronson*; CP 1714-17, *In re Detention of Jones*; CP 1718-21, *In re Detention of Halvorson*; and CP 1722-25, *In re Detention of Love. In re Detention of Pettis* was the first case to reach the appellate courts.

the trier of fact to assess. CP 1729-30. The Court of Appeals correctly upheld this finding, noting that "there is no dispute that the principles underlying the SRA-FV are generally accepted in the scientific community." *Ritter*, 2016 WL 503128, at \*4.

#### 1. Standard of review.

Whether scientific evidence is admissible presents a mixed question of law and fact which is reviewed de novo. Pettis, 188 Wn. App at 204-5. Scientific testimony is admissible under *Frye* if a two-part test is satisfied: (1) the scientific theory or principle upon which the evidence is based has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community of which it is a part; and (2) there are generally accepted methods of applying the theory or principle in a manner capable of producing reliable results. Lake Chelan Shores Homeowners Ass'n v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 176 Wn. App. 168, 175, 313 P.3d 408 (2013). Courts do not evaluate whether the scientific theory is correct, but whether it has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community. State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 359-60, 869 P.2d 43 (1994). There is no numerical cut off for determining the "reliable results" prong. Lake Chelan Shores, 176 Wn. App. at 175. Moreover, the Frye standard does not require unanimity among scientists for evidence to be generally accepted. *Id.* at 176 (citing *State v. Gore*, 143 Wn.2d 288, 302, 21 P.3d 262 (2001)).

Frye requires "general acceptance," not "full acceptance." State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 41, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

# 2. This Court has held that SVP risk assessment tools satisfy *Frye*.

"Based on our established precedent, we reiterate that the *Frye* standard has been satisfied by both clinical and actuarial determinations of future dangerousness." *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 756 (citing *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 56; *In re Detention of Harris*, 98 Wn.2d 276, 280-81, 654 P.2d 109 (1982); *In re Detention of Campbell*, 139 Wn.2d 341, 355, 986 P.2d 771 (1999)). *Frye*'s "core concern ... is only whether the evidence being offered is based on established scientific methodology." *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 56 (quoting *State v. Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d 879, 889, 846 P.2d 502 (1993)).

Experts have traditionally used clinical judgment to consider and weigh dynamic risk factors, and Washington courts have consistently recognized that clinical consideration of such factors has been central to SVP evaluations.<sup>6</sup> The SRA-FV is based on empirical research and was created by one of the developers of the Static-99 to assist clinical judgment with a more stable and analytic framework. The SRA-FV was researched, developed, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See e.g. In re Detention of Jacobson, 120 Wn. App. 770, 777, 86 P.3d 1202 (2004) (noting the evaluator's consideration of dynamic risk factors); In re Detention of Danforth, 153 Wn. App. 833, 840, 223 P.3d 1241 (2009); In re Detention of Reimer, 146 Wn. App. 179, 196, 190 P.3d 74 (2008).

published using the same methodology underlying all the tools that are commonly used in the field of sex offender evaluation. The SRA-FV is not novel science—it was constructed implementing decades of generally accepted research on the subject of risk assessment, and it has been subject to peer review and validation. The SRA-FV takes factors previously considered by clinicians with unanchored clinical judgment and puts them in a structured construct based on empirical data, in order to achieve a more accurate risk assessment.

# 3. The SRA-FV is generally accepted by experts conducting sexual risk assessments.

The State submitted a declaration by Amy Phenix, Ph.D., who explained the development, general acceptance, and widespread use of the SRA-FV in the field of sex offender evaluation and assessment. CP 1396-1402. She also testified at length at the hearing. RP 12/9/14 at 18-189; RP 12/10/14 at 4-36. Dr. Phenix is a clinical psychologist specializing in forensic psychology. RP 12/9/14 at 19. She has conducted over 450 SVP evaluations and has supervised thousands of evaluators conducting sex offender evaluations. CP 1397; RP 12/9/14 at 24. She has been qualified as an expert in California, Washington, New Hampshire, Florida, Iowa, Wisconsin, Illinois, Massachusetts, Missouri, Minnesota, North Carolina,

and Arizona, and has testified in numerous *Frye* and/or *Daubert*<sup>7</sup> hearings on the admissibility of the various actuarial and risk assessment tools, and methodology in sex offender risk assessment. CP 1397. She has testified for both for the state and the defense. CP 1397.

With regard to the first prong of the *Frye* test, Dr. Phenix testified to the broad acceptance of the SRA-FV, it being "widely used and accepted in the field of sex offender evaluation." CP 1401. It is commonly used by evaluators conducting SVP assessments in several jurisdictions, and by all government evaluators conducting evaluations pursuant to the federal Adam Walsh Child Safety and Protection Act. CP 1401. The SRA-FV was validated in 2010, and a peer-reviewed article about the research supporting it was published in 2013.8 RP 12/9/14 at 77-79; 102-03; 106-07; 115. The SRA-FV's dynamic risk factors all have been studied and found to predict future sexual re-offense. RP 12/9/14 at 142.

Judge Elofson reached the same conclusions as the *Pettis* court in ruling that the SRA-FV meets the requirements of the *Frye* test. RP 12/19/14 at 3. He ruled that the testimony and supporting materials show "dynamic risk factors" to be generally accepted in the scientific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> David Thornton & Raymond A. Knight, Construction and Validation of SRA-FV Need Assessment, 27 Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 360-75 (July 2015) (published online before print, Dec. 30, 2013, at http://sax.sagepub.com/content/early/2013/12/13/1079063213511120.abstract).

community as important risk considerations, and that the SRA-FV provides a structured approach to measuring them. RP 12/19/14 at 4. Even Dr. Abbott (Ritter's expert) acknowledged that the SRA-FV is the type of instrument recommended for use in sex offender evaluation by the Association for the Treatment Sexual Abusers (ATSA). RP 12/11/14 at 114-115.9 For all of these reasons, the trial court found the SRA-FV is "generally accepted in the scientific community." RP 12/19/14 at 5-6. The Court of Appeals determined that the SRA-FV used "essentially the same process used in applying static risk factors" as the actuarials that have long been approved by this Court. Ritter, 2016 WL 503128, at \*4.

#### 4. The SRA-FV is capable of producing reliable results.

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